FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/9/2019 2:18 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. _____

SUPREME CORT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 50376-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION TWO OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LESLIE W. ROBBINS AND HARLENE ROBBINS,

RESPONDENTS,

v.

MASON COUNTY TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY; and

RETITLE INSURANCE COMPANY,

PETITIONER.

MASON COUNTY TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY'S and RETITLE INSURANCE COMPANY'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

WHITEHOUSE & NICHOLS, LLP Stephen Whitehouse WSBA No. 6818 PO Box 1273 Shelton, Washington 98584 (360) 426-5885

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner here is Mason County Title Insurance Company, now Retitle Insurance Company.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks discretionary review by the Washington State Supreme Court of a decision of the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division II, filed August 28, 2018. Robbins v. Mason County Title Insurance Company, 5 Wash. App. 2d 68, 425 P.3d 885 (2018), reconsideration denied, December 12, 2018. Copies appended.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in imposing a duty to defend where (a) the contract between the parties excludes any duty where there had been a final determination by a court of competent jurisdiction (CP 232); and (b) <u>United States v. State of Washington</u>, 384 F. Supp. 312 (W. D. Wash. (1974); 443 U.S. 658, 675, 99 S. Ct. 3055, (1979); 873 F. Supp. 1422 (W. D. Wash.

- 1994); 157 F. 3d 630 (9th Cir. 1998)¹ effectively determined all potential issues; and therefore (c) relitigating this issue would be futile.
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in imposing a duty to defend where there were no legal proceedings between the insured and the adverse claimant?
- 3. Was the Court of Appeals consideration of the issue of bad faith proper when the issue was not raised before the trial court, was not considered by the trial court, and was the Court of Appeals determination contrary to established authority?
- 4. Where a title policy excludes from coverage easements not disclosed by the public record, is a treaty right to enter onto an insured's property therefore excluded from coverage?
 - The Court of Appeals Holding Is Inconsistent With The Statutory Framework Regarding Public Records And Recorded Documents.
 - ii. The Court of Appeals Erred In The Plain And Unambiguous Language of The Contract.

¹ The 1974/1975 decisions are the original fishing rights determination. The 1994/1998 decisions, brought within the same ongoing proceeding, is the application of shellfish rights to the earlier treaty right determination.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1978, the Mason County Title Insurance Company (MCTI) issued a title policy to Leslie and Harlene Robbins (hereinafter Robbins) as to Tracts Three and Four of the Plat of Skookum Point Tracts as recorded in vol. 4 of plats, pages 54 & 55, records of Mason County (CP 228-232).

MCTI agreed to insure title to the tidelands as to:

2. Any defect in, or lien or encumbrance on, said title existing at the date hereof, not shown in Schedule B; (CP 229)

The policy was, and is, subject to the following general exception (emphasis added) not insured against:

1. Encroachments or questions of location, boundary and area, which an accurate survey may disclose; <u>public or private easements not disclosed by the public records</u>; rights or claims of persons in possession, or claiming to be in possession, not disclosed by the public records; material or labor liens or liens under the Workmen's Compensation Act not disclosed by public records; water rights or matters relating thereto; any service, installation or construction charges for sewer, water or electricity. (CP 231)

The policy is further subject to the following Conditions and Stipulations:

4. The following terms when used in this policy mean: (d) "public records": records which, under the recording laws, impart constructive notice with respect to said real estate; (CP 232).

Section 2 of the Conditions and Stipulations of the policy further provide as follows:

2. In the event of a final judicial determination by a court of competent jurisdiction, under which the estate, lien or interest insured is defeated or impaired by reason of any adverse interest, lien or encumbrance not set for or excepted herein, claim may be made as herein provided. A statement in writing of any loss or damage, for which it is claimed the Company is liable, shall be furnished to the Company at its home office within sixty days after such loss or damage shall have been asserted. (CP 232).

As far back as 2005, Robbins have been conducting commercial shellfish operations on their property. (CP 224-225).

In 2015, the Squaxin Island Tribe communicated with Robbins about its right to one-half of the naturally occurring harvest. (CP 225, 241-242).

In July, 2016, Robbins tendered defense of what they perceived was a claim to MCTI.

MCTI declined the tender and provided analysis to Robbins. (CP 237-238, 240, 244-245, 247-250). There is a response to the last letter from Robbins which counsel Robbins did not make a part of the record. Robbins have never asserted that the response was not in compliance with regulations requiring a timely investigation and response.

Robbins have never indicated what it expected MCTI to do since the Squaxin Island Tribe right to harvest the shellfish under the Treaty of Medicine Creek was fully determined by the Federal Courts in the cause cited above and in footnote 1. (CP 237-250)

The record does not show Robbins did anything to defend against the claim of the Squaxin Island Tribe and they never disputed the tribe's treaty right claim.

MCTI told Robbins they should make a claim under the policy. (CP 245) Robbins failed to do so. The Conditions and Stipulations of the policy, at section 1, provide MCTI has the option to pay the claim rather than defend (CP 232).

This lawsuit was filed shortly thereafter, Robbins claiming there was coverage and that MCTI was obliged to defend against the tribe's claim (CP 315-345).

On cross motions for summary judgment, the Mason County Superior Court held that the Squaxin Island Tribe's treaty right was in the nature of a *profit a prendre*, a form of easement. It was not disclosed by the public record, under the recording laws which impart constructive notice thereof. The court held it was excluded from coverage under general exceptions of the policy and considering the

definition of public records under Section 4(d), of the Conditions and Stipulations of the policy. The trial court never addressed the issue of bad faith given its ruling. (CP 4-5, 232).

The Court of Appeals reversed, without oral argument, holding that a *profit a prendre* was not an easement, and therefore there was a duty to defend. The Court of Appeals further determined that MCTI had acted in bad faith. The Court of Appeals remanded for determination of MCTI's affirmative defenses.

A Motion for Reconsideration was filed and denied.

Throughout this matter before the Superior Court and briefing to the Court of Appeals, despite being challenged to do so, Robbins have never indicated what they expected MCTI to do even if it had accepted the tender (CP 17-18). The Court of Appeals similarly did not address this inquiry. Robbins, supra.

V. ARGUMENT

1. MCTI WAS NOT OBLIGATED TO DEFEND AGAINST AN INSURED CLAIM WHERE THE CLAIM HAD BEEN EFFECTIVELY DETERMINED BY THE FEDERAL COURTS.

The circumstances of this case are unique. While Robbins were not a party to <u>United States v. State of Washington</u>, supra, that case conclusively determined the rights of the Squaxin Island Tribe to an

equal share of naturally occurring shellfish for all practical purposes. Filing an action challenging that decisions on Robbins' behalf would have been frivolous.

Under the terms of the policy, where the rights between the insured and the adverse claimant have been determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remedy of the insured is to submit a claim. (CP 232). Robbins were told to do so, and they refused. (CP 245). Under Section 2 of the Conditions and Stipulations of the parties, they had 60 days after the loss or damage was ascertained to submit a claim. (CP 232).

Apart from the policy provisions, the law does not require a party to perform a useless act. <u>University Properties</u>, <u>Inc. v. Moss</u>, 63 Wash. 2d 619, 388 P. 2d 543 (1964).

2. A TITLE COMPANY HAS NO DUTY TO DEFEND WHERE THERE ARE NO LEGAL PROCEEDINGS BETWEEN AN INSURED AND AN ADVERSE CLAIMANT.

It is the practice within the title insurance industry to defend a matter, if there is a duty, upon the commencement of legal proceedings within which an adverse claim is made to an interest of an insured which is covered under the policy of insurance.

This practice is consistent with the holding in <u>Woo v. Fireman's</u>

Fund Ins. Co, 161 Wash.2d 43, 164 P.2d 454 (2007) which held:

"The rule regarding the duty to defend is well settled in Washington and is broader than the duty to indemnify. Hayden v. Mut of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 141 Wash.2d 55, 64, 1 P. 3d 1167 (2000). The duty to defend "arises at the time an action is first brought, and is based on the potential for liability." Truck Ins. Exch. v. VanPort Homes, Inc., 147 Wash.2d 751, 760, 58 P.3d 276 (2002) (emphasis added). An insurer has a duty to defend "when a complaint against the insured, construed liberally, alleges facts which could, if proven, impose liability upon the insurance within the policy's coverage." Id. (quoting Unigard Ins. Co. v. Leven, 97 Wash. App. 417, 425, 983, P.2d 115 (1999))."

Quoting from <u>Truck Ins. Exchange v. Vanport Homes, Inc.</u>, 147 Wash. 2d 751, 760, 58 P.3d 276 (2002):

"The duty to defend arises at the time an action is first brought, and is based on the potential for liability. See <u>Holland Am. Ins. Co. v. Nat'l Indem. Co.</u>, 75 Wash.2d 909, 911-12, 454 P.2d 383 (1969). The duty to defend "arises when a complaint against the insured, construed liberally, alleges facts which could, if proven, impose liability upon the insured within the policy's coverage." <u>Unigard Ins. Co. v. Leven</u>, 97 Wash.App. 417, 425, 983 P.2d 1155 (1999).

Quoting from American Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd., 168, Wash.2d 398, 229, P.3d 693 (2010):

"Alea's duty to defend arose when Dorsey brought suit against Cafe Arizona..."

"The duty to defend means, of course, to pay attorneys fees and other costs of litigation or to provide for these services." WILLIAM B.

STOEBUCK & JOHN W. WEAVER, 18 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: REAL ESTATE, § 14.20. See also Section 14.19 thereof.

The effect of the Court of Appeals ruling is to completely change the burden on all insurance companies, including title companies, doing business in the State of Washington, regarding the duty to defend without providing any guidance as to what a title company might be obligated to do, or when they should do it.

Under existing law and procedures, a bright line is created when, within the pleadings of claims in a law suit, the insured's interest could be adversely impacted.

Under the Court of Appeals decision, no such bright line is created. There is no indication of what a title company is expected to do.

No Washington case provides for a duty to defend prior to a law suit being filed, nor have Robbins cited to any authority.

Given the potential adverse consequences of violating the duty to defend, the decision of the Court of Appeals places title companies in a very precarious position. If left to stand, this decision will have an economic impact, passed on to consumers, increasing the cost of insurance.

3. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN DETERMINING MCTI HAD ACTED IN BAD FAITH.

The trial court never reached the issue of bad faith and it should not have been considered by the Court of Appeals. If anything, the issue should have been remanded to the trial court for full consideration.

The actual Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Robbins did not ask for the trial court to determine that MCTI had acted in bad faith (CP 525). There was a brief reference in their argument (CP 261). MCTI indicated to the trial court it did not see the issue as being before the court (CP 37).

The Court of Appeals held that MCTI's failure to defend was per se unreasonable, and therefore in bad faith, because the policy, construed in Robbins favor, was ambiguous, citing American Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd., 168, Wash.2d 398, 229, P.3d 693 (2010).

A conflict exists between <u>Alea</u>, supra., and <u>Truck Ins. Exch. v. VanPort Homes, Inc.</u>, 147 Wash.2d 751, 760, 58 P.3d 276 (2002), both narrow majority opinions, which this court should resolve.

In <u>Truck</u>, supra., the court did not hold a failure to defend was per se unreasonable where a policy was ambiguous. Rather, that court

determined the insurer's conduct was unreasonable because it failed to "promptly provide a reasonable explanation for the denial of a claim. WAC 284-30-330(13)." Truck, supra., at 764, which is not an issue Robbins have raised. In other words, there was an evaluation of how the insurer processed the claim and determined the insurers violated a specific regulation, which was then a per se violation of Washington's Consumer Protection Act.

In <u>Alea</u>, supra., the court indicated that bad faith still required a finding that an insurer's failure to defend was unreasonable, frivolous or unfounded, yet then, determined without citation to any precedent, that a failure to defend where there was any possibility of coverage was, per se, bad faith. <u>Alea</u>, supra., at 412-413. The effect of this holding, as applied in the present case by the Court of Appeals, is to eliminate any need for a factual finding that an insurer's act in not defending was unreasonable, frivolous or unfounded.

One writer, post <u>Alea</u>, citing to <u>Sharbono v. Universal Ins. Co.</u>, 139 Wash.2d 383, 161 P.3d 406(2007), rev. denied, 163 Wash.2d 1055, 187 P.3d 752 (2008), has expressed that even in light of <u>Alea</u>, bad faith is a question of fact as to whether "reasonable minds can

reach but one conclusion." Harris, Washington Insurance Law, Third Edition § 7.01.

Bad faith has always been an issue of fact and the burden of proof is on the insured. In the context of the present case, all facts and inferences are to be viewed in a light most favorable to MCTI, which is exactly the opposite of what the Court of Appeals did. When reasonable minds can differ, a trial is required. Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co., 150 Wash. 2d 478, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003). The determination by the Mason Superior Court would seem to indicate that reasonable minds could differ as to coverage.

Finally, where affirmative defenses are still at issue, any finding of bad faith is premature given if any of the affirmative defenses are established in the trial court, there is no duty to defend and therefore there can be no bad faith.

4. A TREATY RIGHT TO ENTER UPON AN INSURED TIDELAND IS IN THE NATURE OF AN EASEMENT NOT DISCLOSED BY THE PUBLIC RECORD UNDER THE RECORDINGS ACTS AND IS EXCLUDED FROM COVERAGE UNDER ROBBINS' TITLE POLICY.

The title policy excludes from coverage easements not disclosed by the public record under the recording laws of the State of Washington.

i. The Court Of Appeals Holding Is Inconsistent With The Statutory Framework Regarding Public Records And Recorded Documents.

The Court of Appeals focused on the effect of the treaty right as to whether or not these rights are an easement. The Court erroneously declined to address the "recording law" portion of the analysis which is necessary to define the exclusion.

The expectation is that title insurance companies will examine documents which are recorded with the respective county auditors and Superior Court Judgment indexes and insure title, or except from that coverage, interests that it does or does not find. As described below, there is no authority for the expectation that a title company will search beyond those records.

The policy not only excluded from coverage easements not disclosed by the public record "but any right or claim of persons in possession, or claiming to be in possession, not disclosed by the public record." (CP 232). This confirms that the focus of the coverage, or lack of coverage, is what exists in the public record, under the recording laws which impart constructive notice.

The Treaty of Medicine Creek, signed in 1854, a treaty between the United States and various tribes, is no such document. The treaty

is found only in the federal statutes at 10 Stat.1132. It is not found in any other official record. Robbins never alleged it is recorded "under the recording laws" for the State of Washington for real property instruments. In fact, it is not (CP 292-293).

Robbins sought to avoid this language in the policy by alleging the effect of 1 U.S.C. § 112. That act provides that the Archivist of the United States is to compile and publish the United States Statutes at large. The treaty is a statute. 1 U.S.C. § 112 goes on to say that such compilation is legal evidence of their existence, and nothing more.

The federal statute has no connection to "recording laws" for real property documents in the State of Washington. See <u>David Robbins Construction</u>, <u>LLC v. First American Title Company</u>, 158 Wash. App. 895, 249 P. 3d 625 (2010), <u>Security Service Federal Credit Union v. First American Title Company</u>, 2012 WL 5954815 (US Dist. Ct., Ca. 2012), <u>Murphy v. City of Seattle</u>, 32 Wash. App. 386, 647 P. 2d 540 (1982).

As stated in Ellingsen v. Franklin County, 117 Wash. 2d 24, 810 P.2d 910 (1991),

"Under the County's theory all records of these multiple, scattered public offices would impart constructive notice of everything contained in those records because, like the engineer's office, those are public records in public offices...To

import constructive notice from every piece of paper or computer file in every government office, from the smallest hamlet to the largest state agency, would wreak havoc with the title system. As a matter of fact, it would render impossible a meaningful title search."

The State of Washington statutorily sets forth the strict expectations it has of title companies. Under RCW 48.29.010, in order to have a certificate of authority to conduct business, a title company must maintain a complete set of tract indexes of the county in which it does business. WAC 284-16-030 defines a complete set of tract indexes. See Appendences. Federal statutes are not included.

While presented in a different context, <u>Smith v. Lamping</u>, 27 Wash. 624, 68 P. 195 (1902), and <u>Fidelity Title Company v. State of Washington Department of Revenue</u>, 49 Wash. App. 662, 745 P. 2d, 530 (1987) are consistent with what is required of a title company.

The term "recording acts" is defined as:

"Statutes enacted in the several states relating to the official recording of deeds, mortgages, bills of sale, chattel mortgages, etc. and the effect of such records as notice to creditors, purchasers, encumbrances, and others interested."

BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY online, 2nd edition

The recording acts of the State of Washington are found under various statutes, principally at RCW Chapter 65.08 et. seq. There is no

statute or case law in Washington that requires them to search beyond those recordings they are required to maintain.

See also William B. Stoebuck & John W. Weaver, Washington Practice: Real Estate, § 14.16-14.19.

Kahama VI, LLC v. HJH, LLC, 2016 WL 7104175 (US Dist. Ct., M.D. Florida 2016), presents as strong an analogy to the present case as can be found. In Kahama, a developer bought a parcel of beachfront property in Florida. The developer claimed that a public right to use the beach it had acquired, in part, had not been disclosed in the title report. This public right of access had been recognized by case law.

The holding of the court was that the case law of the State of Florida was not a part of the record title of the property, and denied coverage. The court expressed that title insurance is designed to ensure against "defects in the record titles", and the title company is only guaranteeing that their search of "the record chain of title is accurate" (See Section 6 of the opinion), which is what MCTI properly did.

ii. The Court Of Appeals Erred In Construing The Plain And Unambiguous Language Of The Contract.

The Court of Appeals focused on whether the tribal right was an easement excluded under the policy.

The court determined that the term easement was ambiguous and must be construed against MCTI. While this may be a correct view of the law as it relates to some provisions of insurance policies, this is not the case when words have specific legal meaning. Words with legal meanings, such as "easement", are to be interpreted according to how the law interprets them. Bernard v. Reishman, 33 Wash. App. 569, 658 P.2d 2 (1983). Ambiguity is simply not an issue to consider in this context, even if the interpretation is favorable to the insurer. WILLIAM B. STOEBUCK & JOHN W. WEAVER, 18 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: § 14.20

Title policies are subject to the same construction analysis as other contracts. See <u>Denny's Restaurants</u>, <u>Inc. v. Security Union Title Insurances Company</u>, 71 Wash. App. 194, 859 P. 2d 619 (1993), (holding that <u>Berg v. Hudesman</u>, 115 Wash. 2d 657, 801 P. 2d 222 (1990), applies to the construction of title insurances polices).

A court may not revise a contract's terms under the guise of construing it. <u>International Marine Underwriters v. ABCD Marine</u>, <u>LLC.</u>, 179 Wash. 2d 274, 313 P. 3d 395 (2013).

Title policies must be examined as a whole, considering the object of the contract. <u>Polygon Northwest Co. v. American Nat. Fire</u>

Insurance. Co., 143 Wash. App. 753, 189 P.3d 777 (2008), rev. denied 164 Wash. 2d 1033. In reviewing the forgoing case, in interpreting Washington law, the District Court for the Western District of Washington noted that individual words in policies should not be read in isolation but rather viewed in the surrounding context of the policy. Ohio Casualty Ins. Co. v. Chugech Support Services, Inc., 2011 WL 4712234. That context is the expectation of what the State of Washington requires of title companies.

The Court of Appeals, quoting from Affil. FM Ins. Co. v. LTK Consulting Services, Inc., 170 Wash.2d 442, 455, 243 P.3d 521 (2010), commented an easement is "(a) cousins of easements, a *profit a prendre* (sic), " is a right to severe and remove some substance from the land." (quoting 17 WILLIAM B. STOEBUCK & JOHN W. WEAVER, WASH. PRACTICE: REAL ESTATE, § 2.1 Property Law at 80 (2d ed. 2004)).

There is no citation in the briefing of Robbins or in the decision of the Court of Appeals that a *profit a prendre* is <u>not</u> a form of easement.

A *profit a prendre* is a form of easement. Profits a prendre are, in fact, referred to as an "easement with a profit." See <u>Alexander Dawson, Inc. v. Fling</u>, 155 Colo. 599, 601, 396 P. 2d 599 (1964).

Figliuzzi v. Carcajou Shooting Club of Lake Koshkonong, 184 Wis. 2d 572, 583, 516 N.W. 2d 410 (1994), (citing the Restatement of Property), indicates there is no legal distinction between an easement and a profit, and that the term, "easement", includes a profit.

The Restatement (Third) of Property (Servitudes), § 1.2, defines the terms easement and *profit a prendre* as follows:

(2) A *profit a prendre* is an easement that confers the right to enter and remove timber, minerals, oil, gas, game, or other substances from land in the possession of another. It is referred to as a "profit" in this Restatement. Restatement (Third) of Property (Servitudes) § 1.2 (2000).

The fact there may be distinctions between various forms of easements does not mean they are not easements.

VI. CONCLUSION

This court should grant review to address:

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