# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/31/2019 4:49 PM

No. 96726-1

BY SUSAN L. CARLSONUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK

No. II-50376-0

Court of Appeals
DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON

# MASON COUNTY TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY; and RETITLE INSURANCE COMPANY, PETITIONER,

v.

LESLIE W. ROBBINS AND HARLENE E. ROBBINS, RESPONDENTS.

# RESPONDENTS LESLIE W. ROBBINS AND HARLENE E. ROBBINSES' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

OWENS DAVIES, P.S.
Matthew B. Edwards
1115 West Bay Drive, Suite 302
Olympia, Washington 98502
(360) 943-8320
WSBA No. 18332

#

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

#### IV. ANALYSIS

A. The policy imposed an extremely broad duty on the insurer to defend the Robbinses. This duty extended to "demands" made prior to the initiation of legal proceedings.

The policy imposed an extremely broad duty on the insurer to defend the Robbinses:

The company . . . will, at its own expense, defend the insured with respect to all demands . . . founded upon a claim of title, encumbrance or defect which existed or is claimed to have existed prior to the date hereof and is not set forth or excepted herein; . . .

CP 232. By its plain language, the insurer's duty to defend extends to "demands" made prior to the initiation of legal proceedings.

In arguing that it need only defend against legal proceedings, the insurer cites to cases involving comprehensive general liability insurance policies, the language of which only requires the insurer to defend against a "suit." *Unigard Ins. Co. v. Leven*, 97 Wn.App. 417, 425, 983 P.2d 115 (1999) (twice internally cited in the insurer's Petition at p. 8) (where policy

only required insurer to defend against "any **suit** against the Insured," insurer had no duty to defend until such suit actually filed) (emphasis added). See also *Alea*, 168 Wn.2d at 403 (tender after "suit" actually filed).

However, Washington courts have also squarely held that where the policy by its language requires an insurer to defend prior to the initiation of a "suit," the insurer must do so. *United Services Auto. Ass'n v. Speed*, 179 Wn.App. 184, 195 ¶18, 317 P.3d 532 (2014) (when insurance policy requires insurer to defend against "claims," insurer must step in and provide the insured with a defense in response to such claims even prior to the institution of formal legal proceedings).

Because the cases relied on by the insurer involve substantially different policy language, they are irrelevant here. The insurer has not established any basis for the Court to accept review of this issue.

B. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the general exception for "easements not disclosed by the public record" did not apply.

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the general exception for "easements not disclosed by the public record" did not apply.

1. <u>Under Alea and Xia</u>, the insurer had the burden of clearly establishing that this exclusion applied.

Under settled Washington law, an insurer takes a "great risk" when it refuses to defend its insured. Xia v. Probuilders Specialty Ins. Co., 188

Wn.2d 171, 182, ¶23, 400 P.3d 1234 (2017). An insurer is entitled to refuse to defend only if its policy does not even conceivably cover the claim. Xia, 188 Wn.2d at 182, ¶22; American Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd. 168 Wn.2d 398, 404 ¶6, 229 P.3d 693 (2010). In deciding whether to defend, the insurer must give its insured the benefit of any dispute or ambiguity about either the facts, or the applicable law. Xia, 182, ¶23; Alea, 405, ¶7. If there is such doubt or uncertainty, the insurer must provide a defense, but then may initiate a declaratory judgment action to ask a court to resolve the dispute or uncertainty. Alea, 405, ¶7. But an insurer may not simply refuse to defend its insured, and acts in bad faith if it does so. Alea, 413, ¶ 20; Xia, 190, ¶42.

The insurer does not discuss, much less challenge, the Court of Appeals' holding that these standards applied to this case.

2. The exclusion only applies to "easements," and the Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the tribe's aboriginal claim was in the nature of a *profit a prendre*, not an "easement."

Applying these standards, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the general exclusion applicable to "easements not disclosed by the public records" did not unambiguously negate coverage for the Robbinses' claim.

An easement is a right, typically running with the ownership of an adjoining piece of property, to make some use of the property burdened by the easement. *Beebe v. Swerda*, 58 Wn.App. 375, 381, 793 P.2d 442

(1990). A profit, in contrast, is a right, usually held by an individual, to come upon property and carry off its soil, or the products of its soil. 17 Stoebuck and Weaver, Wash. Prac.: Real Estate: Property Law (2004), §2.1 at 80.

Here, the tribe claimed a right—retained by each member of the tribe individually pursuant to the Treaty of Medicine Creek—to come upon the Robbinses' property and carry off shellfish, a product of the property's soil. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the tribe's claim was in the nature of a profit, rather than in the nature of an easement, such that the policy's general exception applicable only to easements conceivably did not apply. 5 Wn.App. at 82, ¶35.

3. Because it was based on rights derived from a federal treaty published in the United States statutes at large, the tribe's claim was also based on a matter "disclosed by the public record."

Because it found that the tribe was asserting rights that were not subject to the general exclusion applicable only to easements, the Court of Appeals did not reach the Robbinses' alternative argument: because the tribe's claim was based on the published Treaty of Medicine Creek, the basis for the tribe's claim was "disclosed by the public record."

Congress had the Treaty of Medicine Creek published in its official compilation of United States statutes. 10 Stat. 132 (CP 73). The effect of the treaty's publication was to provide constructive notice of its terms to

all the world. 1 U.S.C. §113 (CP 73); Federal Crop Ins. Corp. v. Merrill, 332 U.S. 380, 384-85 (1947) ("[E]veryone is charged with knowledge of the United States Statutes at Large . . .").

Interpreting an identically-worded policy, the Alaska Supreme Court has held that an officially published federal order constitutes a "public record" under the recording laws. *Hahn v. Alaska Title Guaranty Co.*, 557 P.2d 143 (1976) (CP 200-204). The insurer can point to no contrary on-point authority.

Under *Alea* and *Xia*, an insurer must defend when it conceivably has the obligation to do so under the language of its policy. The absence of on-point Washington case authority, and the Alaska Supreme Court directly on-point decision in *Hahn*, meant that the insurer conceivably owed the Robbinses an obligation to defend them against the tribe's claim. It therefore owed, and breached, a duty to defend the Robbinses.

# C. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the insurer acted in bad faith in refusing to defend.

The Court of Appeals next correctly held that the insurer acted in bad faith in refusing to defend. 5 Wn.App. at 82-83, ¶36-40.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Id. at 82-83, ¶36-40. Misrepresenting the record, the insurer claims that the "Robbins did not ask the trial court to determine that [the insurer] had acted in bad faith." Insurer's Petition, p. 10. The Robbinses moved the Superior Court for a declaration, on summary judgment, that "the title insurer must pay the Robbins for all loss or damage they sustained as a result of the [t]ribe's claim." CP 252. The Robbinses squarely argued that the insurer's refusal to defend occurred in bad faith, and resulted in an estoppel to deny

Washington law unequivocally imposes a duty upon the insurer to provide a defense in any situation where there is any factual or legal doubt about its obligation to do so. *Alea* 168 Wn.2d at 412-13. In both *Alea*, and in *Xia*, this Court held that insurers who fail to recognize this legal standard, and who fail to correctly apply it, act in bad faith as a matter of law. *Alea*, 168 Wn.2d at 413, ¶ 20; *Xia*, 188 Wn.2d at 189, ¶39-41.

The Court of Appeals held that the insurer should have recognized that "its policy exception for easements was at best ambiguous in its application." 5 Wn.App. at 83, ¶40. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the insurer had refused to defend in bad faith as a matter of law.

The insurer asserts that there is a conflict between this Court's decision in *Alea*, and its earlier decision in *Truck Insurance Exchange v. VanPort Homes, Inc.*, 147 Wn.2d 751, 760, 58 P.3d 276 (2002). See Insurer's Brief, p. 10. In *Truck*, the court held that an insurer who had failed to provide any meaningful explanation of its refusal to defend its insured acted in bad faith as a matter of law. This constitutes an independent ground for finding bad faith; it is not inconsistent with either the rationale or the holdings of *Alea* and *Xia*. There is no conflict between these cases.

coverage, leading to this remedy. CP 261-262, 272. See also CP 15-16. The insurer's claim that this issue was not before the Superior Court, and therefore before the Court of Appeals, is wholly without merit.

In sum, the insurer has not established error nor any basis warranting review of the Court of Appeals' analysis of the issue of bad faith.

## D. The insurer's failure to defend prejudiced the Robbinses.

Finally, the insurer asserts that the Court of Appeals erred, and the Court should accept review, because "defending would have been "useless"." See Insurer's Brief at p. 7.

The insurer apparently intends to assert by this argument that its failure to defend did not cause harm to the Robbinses. If so, this argument fails for two reasons.

First, where an insurer acting in bad faith refuses to defend its insured, this Court has required that harm be presumed. *Robbins*, 5 Wn.App. at 83, ¶39, citing *Kirk v. Mt. Airy Ins. Co.*, 134 Wn.2d 558, 563, 951 P.2d 1124 (1998).

Second, the insurer's provision of a defense to the Robbinses would certainly have been of benefit to them. An attorney could have assisted the Robbinses in determining: (1) whether the Robbinses' property was in fact part of the tribe's usual and accustomed fishing grounds; (2) whether the tribe's rights extended to Manila clams located on the Robbinses' property; and (3) what portion of the shellfish on the

Robbinses' property were "naturally occurring." <u>See CP 226</u> (Declaration of Leslie Robbins at ¶14).

The burden was on the insurer, who acted in bad faith, to prove "beyond dispute" that its refusal to provide a defense caused no harm whatsoever to the Robbinses. The insurer failed to take that burden seriously, much less to meet it. The insurer's argument that there "was nothing to defend" does not warrant this Court in accepting review.

#### ISSUE ON CROSS-REVIEW

E. <u>If it accepts review, the Court should also review the Court of Appeals' refusal to dismiss the insurer's affirmative defenses.</u>

If it accepts review, the Court should also review the Court of Appeals' refusal to dismiss the insurer's affirmative defenses.

A plaintiff may move for summary judgment upon the issue of liability as a matter of law. CR 56(a); CR 56(c) (last sentence) (plaintiff may move, and court may enter, summary judgment on the issue of liability). Nothing in these rules requires a plaintiff to also explicitly ask for dismissal of affirmative defenses inconsistent with liability.

Once the Robbinses moved for summary judgment as to liability, the insurer had the burden of making a prima facie evidentiary showing in support of each of its affirmative defenses to the extent the insurer asserted them as a defense to liability. *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112

Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989); Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 828, 840-42, 100 P.3d 791 (2004).

Here, the Robbinses squarely moved for summary judgment on liability. They asked the Superior Court to declare that "the title insurer must pay the Robbinses for all loss or damage they sustained as a result of the tribe's claim." CP 252. This obligated the insurer to "prove up" its affirmative defenses addressed to liability.

The Court of Appeals held, incorrectly, that the Robbinses, in moving for summary judgment, had, in addition to the obligation of moving for summary judgment on liability, to explicitly request the Superior Court to dismiss the insurer's affirmative defenses. 5 Wn.App. at 84, ¶46. Nothing in CR 56 imposes such a burden upon a claimant moving for summary judgment on liability. The Court of Appeals cited no case authority in support of, and no rationale for imposing, such a novel and extraordinary requirement. If not reviewed and reversed, the Court of Appeals holding will only serve as a trap for the unwary, needlessly prolonging the resolution of disputes in which there are no genuine issues of fact.

If it accepts review, the Court should also review this issue.

## F. The Robbinses are entitled to attorney's fees.

The Robbinses are entitled to an award of their reasonable attorney's fees and costs because they have established that the insurer unreasonably denied coverage. *Olympic Steamship Co. v. Centennial Ins. Co.*, 117 Wn.2d 37,811 P.2d 673 (1991); RCW 48.30.015(3). The Court should award the Robbinses all the fees and costs they have reasonably incurred to date. At a minimum, the Court should award the fees and costs the Robbinses have reasonably incurred in responding to the insurer's motion for discretionary review. <u>See RAP 18.1(j)</u>.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the insurer's petition for review. However, if it accepts review, the Court should also accept review of the Court of Appeals' refusal to dismiss the insurer's affirmative defenses, and reverse only that portion of the Court of Appeals' decision.

The Court should award the Robbinses the reasonable attorney's fees and costs that they have incurred in this case to date. In the alternative, the Court should at least award the Robbinses the reasonable fees and costs they have incurred in responding to this petition for review.

OWENS DAVIES, P.S.

Matthew B. Edwards, WSBA No. 18332 Attorney for Respondents Leslie W. Robbins

and Harlene E. Robbins

I certify that on the <u>31st</u> day of <u>Jonyovy</u>, 2019, I caused a true and correct copy of <u>Mis Arewer</u> to be served on the following in the manner indicated below:

Stephen Whitehouse
PO Box 1273
601 W. Railroad Ave., Ste. 300
Shelton, WA 98584
swhite8893@aol.com
via electrone service and mail